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Plaintiff Securities and Exchange Commission (“Commission”) respectfully submits this 

Memorandum of Law in Opposition to Defendant Jason Sugarman’s (“Sugarman”) Motion to 

Dismiss (“Motion”), DE 38, the Commission’s Complaint, DE 6 (“Complaint”).1 

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT 

 The Complaint alleges that Defendant Sugarman was one of two architects of a scheme to 

use sham tribal bonds (the “Bonds”) to build a financial conglomerate with stolen funds, at least 

$4o million of which was stolen from Bond investors.  The ploy, though carried out through a 

series of intricate steps, was straightforward: identify an investment adviser with discretion over 

its clients’ funds, obtain control of it through fraud and false pretenses, funnel its investors’ 

monies into the Bonds, and misappropriate the proceeds.  Sugarman and his associates succeeded 

twice with their scheme—first with respect to the investment advisory firm Hughes Capital 

Management (“Hughes”) and again with respect to Atlantic Asset Management (“AAM”).  As 

one of the masterminds, Sugarman, by definition, engaged in a scheme to defraud. 

 In addition to acting as an architect of the scheme, Sugarman himself carried out several 

deceptive acts, as the Complaint further alleges.  He cajoled a company on whose board he 

served into acquiring Hughes with a deceitful memo he procured and approved; acquired, with 

misappropriated Bond proceeds, another entity from which he siphoned cash to take over AAM; 

and directly and indirectly misappropriated Hughes’ and AAM’s clients’ Bonds investments.   

Although Sugarman tries to portray his actions as innocent and himself as an honest 

businessman who was victimized by the villainous Jason Galanis and his frauds, the Complaint 

alleges abundant facts that belie Sugarman’s claims.  It alleges that Sugarman’s own associates 

saw him and Galanis as equal partners and that Galanis ran the details of his plans by Sugarman 

                                                 
1  “Mot. at __” refers to citations to the Memorandum of Law in Support of Sugarman’s Motion 
(D.E. 39).  “¶ __” refers to citations to the Complaint. 
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for his approval—including the details of how they would use the misappropriated Bond 

proceeds.  The Complaint also alleges that Sugarman engaged in conduct inconsistent with any 

belief that the Bonds were legitimate, including by using them as currency on repeated occasions 

and making an interest payment on them to prevent detection of the massive fraud.  And far from 

portraying an unlucky but innocent association with a fraudster, the Complaint’s allegations 

paint a consistent picture of Sugarman’s willing and active participation in a plan to build his 

conglomerate with stolen funds.  These allegations start with his role in the theft of $5 million 

from one entity (to fraudulently acquire it), and continue through his role in the 2015 theft of $15 

million from AAM’s clients.   

None of Sugarman’s arguments in support of his Motion is well-founded.  A complaint 

that charges that two individuals acted in concert does not violate any rule against “lump” 

pleading.  And where a complaint alleges deceptive conduct, that conduct need not be illegal 

standing alone.  Nor must a complaint allege that the defendant’s deception gave an investor a 

false impression to satisfy the “in connection with” element of a securities fraud claim. 

Moreover, Sugarman is wrong that the Complaint does not allege that he knew Galanis 

committed fraud sufficient to make out a claim for aiding and abetting.  The Complaint alleges, 

for example, that Galanis told him of the planned fraud and that, as a member of the Investment 

Committee for the Bonds’ placement agent, Sugarman knew or recklessly disregarded that the 

proceeds were not supposed to be paid to him or his entities.  Sugarman’s arguments require an 

implausible inference: that when Sugarman received proceeds he knew came from the Bonds, he 

thought the Bonds had been issued for his or Galanis’s own benefit. 

For these reasons, set forth in more detail below, the Complaint more than adequately 

states securities fraud claims against Sugarman.  His Motion should therefore be denied. 
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THE COMPLAINT’S FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS  

I. Sugarman and His Associates Fraudulently Acquire Wealth-Assurance as a 
Preliminary Step in their Fraudulent Scheme. 

Sugarman’s deceptive acts in connection with the scheme began around December 2013, 

when, with others, he acquired Liechtenstein-based insurance company Wealth-Assurance AG 

(“Wealth-Assurance”) with its own funds.  See generally ¶¶ 22-31.  Having previously made a 

down payment on Wealth-Assurance through a Virgin Islands holding company Sugarman 

controlled, called Wealth Assurance Holdings Ltd.2 (“WAH,” later named “VGL”), Sugarman 

and Galanis arranged for Wealth-Assurance to make a $5 million “investment” in a purported 

Irish fund known as “Ballybunion” in January 2014.  ¶¶ 17, 22-24.   

But Sugarman and Galanis did not make a real investment in a real fund.  Instead, 

Sugarman had his assistant set up a Nevada corporation with the same name, ¶ 25, and directed 

Hugh Dunkerley (“Dunkerley”), whom he installed as a nominee officer and director of Wealth-

Assurance, ¶ 41, to advise Wealth-Assurance to transfer the money to a U.S. bank account 

Sugarman had set up in Ballybunion’s name.  ¶ 24.  Sugarman shepherded the transfer, including 

by falsely describing Ballybunion’s business to the U.S. bank, ¶ 26, and divvied up the proceeds 

with Galanis, including $4 million back to Wealth-Assurance to pay the balance on the purchase 

cost.  ¶ 27.  Through at least January 2016, Sugarman took other steps to deceive Wealth-

Assurance employees about the status of what they believed was a legitimate investment.  ¶ 31.  

Sugarman’s fraudulent acquisition of Wealth-Assurance was the first step in the scheme: it 

enabled him to finance buying Hughes and thus secure victims to purchase the sham Bonds. 

                                                 
2  As part of the scheme, Sugarman had Hugh Dunkerley create a separate Nevada 
corporation, Wealth Assurance Holdings (“WAH NV”), and a U.S. bank account for that entity, 
and installed him as its sole director and president. ¶ 68.  Bank statements for WAH NV’s 
account were sent to an office in Los Angeles that Sugarman and his brother used for their 
various businesses.  Id. 
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II. Sugarman Participates in the Scheme by Fraudulently Acquiring Hughes Capital 
Management and Defrauding Its Investors and the Tribal Corporation. 

 Galanis and his father carried out the scheme’s next step—convince the Wakpanmi Lake 

Community Corporation (“Tribe”) to issue limited recourse Bonds.  ¶32.  According to the deal 

documents, the proceeds were to be invested in a Wealth-Assurance-issued annuity, to generate 

income to pay interest.  ¶ 33.  Once the issuer was procured, Sugarman took the subsequent 

critical steps to acquire unwitting investors to generate the proceeds he and Galanis would steal.   

A. Sugarman Fraudulently Obtains Control of Hughes Capital Management 
and Fraudulently Causes It to Invest in the Bonds. 

 Sugarman was a member of the investment committee for, and indirectly owned an 

interest in, the entity that acted as the Bonds’ placement agent, Burnham Securities (“Burnham”). 

¶¶ 16, 46.  The committee received the Bond deal documents and Sugarman reviewed the 

transaction to decide whether to approve Burnham’s role as placement agent.  ¶ 46.  Thus, 

Sugarman read the deal documents and knew (or deliberately ignored the deal documents and 

recklessly disregarded) that the Bond proceeds were meant to purchase an annuity from Wealth-

Assurance.  But Galanis, in a detailed spreadsheet, separately told Sugarman how the proceeds 

were really going to be allocated, including to make payments to Sugarman, or otherwise for his 

benefit.  ¶ 47.  Sugarman therefore knew (or recklessly disregarded) that the proceeds would not 

actually be allocated to purchase the annuity, as the Tribe understood.   

Having secured an issuer, Sugarman and Galanis now needed purchasers for the Bonds to 

generate money they could misappropriate.  In May 2014, Sugarman and Galanis identified an 

investment advisor, Hughes, to acquire that would give them discretion over client funds to 

invest in the Bonds.  ¶¶ 37, 40.  As part of the purchase negotiations, Sugarman reviewed a 

document called “Introduction to COR Capital,” which Galanis wrote to assure Hughes’ owners 

that Burnham and Wealth-Assurance, which Sugarman indirectly controlled, could provide 
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capital for the acquisition.  ¶¶ 38-39.  After Galanis had sent Sugarman a term sheet for the 

Hughes acquisition, and promised that “we get discretion over” Hughes’ assets, Sugarman 

participated in a meeting, on August 11, 2014, of the Wealth-Assurance Board of Directors, 

during which it agreed to acquire Hughes through a subsidiary.  ¶¶ 40-44.  The board approved 

the proposal based on a memo—which Sugarman had asked Galanis to ghostwrite but purporting 

to come from Dunkerley given Galanis’s status as a securities law recidivist—that falsely 

purported to reflect an investment referral from WAH to Wealth-Assurance.  ¶¶ 41-43.  Wealth-

Assurance then indirectly contributed $2,660,618 to purchase Hughes.  ¶ 44.  Hughes’ new CEO 

Michelle Morton (“Morton”), with whom Sugarman and Galanis had negotiated the acquisition, 

and CIO Gary Hirst (“Hirst”), an associate of Sugarman and Galanis, ¶ 40, then immediately 

directed the purchase by nine of Hughes’ clients of $27 million of the Bonds.  ¶¶ 44-45. 

 B. Sugarman Misappropriates Hughes’ Clients’ Funds. 

In the days that followed, Sugarman, Galanis, and their cohorts misappropriated all of the 

proceeds that Hughes’ advisory clients invested in the Bonds.  For example, consistent with the 

allocation Galanis had sent Sugarman the day the Bonds were sold, ¶ 47, on August 29, 2014, 

Sugarman and Galanis used $1.3 million to repay a loan previously made to Sugarman by Hirst 

to buy Wealth-Assurance.  ¶¶ 92-94.  On September 4, 2014, they directed $47,500 to Sugarman 

and his wife.  ¶¶ 49, 70.  Sugarman also directed Galanis to send him and his wife over $120,000 

on September 4, and his wife over $120,000 on October 30, all from Bond proceeds.  ¶ 70.  In 

October, Galanis recycled $15 million of the proceeds to purchase a new tranche of the Bonds 

(the “Rosemont Bond”)—a Bond that was ostensibly purchased by an entity owned by Devon 

Archer (“Archer”)—and he and Sugarman misappropriated those proceeds, too.  ¶¶ 50-52, 71.   

In November 2014, Sugarman and Galanis used $11 million of their misappropriated 

proceeds from the Rosemont Bond and another bond (the “Cooney Bond”) to enable WAH, 
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which Sugarman controlled, to purchase a Liechtenstein-based insurer, Valorlife, after washing 

the monies through various entities, including two Sugarman affiliates, Camden Escrow, and 

WAH NV.  ¶¶ 17, 52, 71, 73-79.  The Wealth-Assurance board approved acquiring Valorlife, 

with a director asking Sugarman “to ensure that these series of transfers are carried out with the 

utmost efficacy,” a request Sugarman forwarded to Galanis.  ¶ 74.     

III. Sugarman Repeats the Hughes Fraud by Scheming to Fraudulently Acquire AAM 
and Defraud Its Investors and the Tribal Corporation. 

 Sugarman and his associates’ fraudulent acquisition of Valorlife permitted them to 

continue to expand their fraudulent scheme.  Given his position as owner of WAH’s voting 

shares and most of its economic shares, Sugarman directed Valorlife’s investment of 

approximately $6.1 million to purchase AAM, another investment advisory firm.  ¶ 79. 

A.  Sugarman Schemes to Fraudulently Acquire AAM, Much Like Hughes. 

On October 30, 2014, Galanis told Sugarman that he had identified another investment 

advisor candidate to buy yet another tranche of Bonds and generate more proceeds to steal.  ¶ 55.  

Sugarman knew the purpose of the proposed acquisition because he exchanged emails with 

Galanis in which they discussed the target firm’s interest in “firewater,” i.e., the Tribal Bonds.  

¶ 56.  Valorlife eventually indirectly acquired AAM much like Wealth-Assurance had bought 

Hughes.  Sugarman had Dunkerley send AAM a memo from the acquirer’s purported financial 

backers, ¶ 57, and used a “consultant report” (again ghostwritten by Galanis) to the Board of 

Valorlife regarding the proposal, which Sugarman had reviewed and commented on.  ¶¶ 58, 66. 

 Galanis and Sugarman celebrated the acquisition of AAM over email, with Sugarman 

exclaiming, “[T]ime to make money!”  ¶ 60.  Indeed, Sugarman was instrumental in making that 

happen.  After the acquisition of AAM, the Bond purchase seemed in danger when the AAM 

fund manager into whose fund the Bonds were to be sold seemed resistant to being replaced by a 
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Burnham employee.  ¶ 64.  In an April 11, 2015 email, Sugarman proposed that the manager be 

flown “out for a [W]arriors or [D]odgers” game.  Id.  A few hours later, Sugarman confirmed 

that the arrangements had been made, and, on April 16, 2015, Morton directed $16.2 million 

from that fund into new Bonds, with Burnham again serving as placement agent.  ¶¶ 64-65.   

B. Sugarman Misappropriates AAM’s Client’s Unwitting Bond Investment. 

 Once Sugarman acquired AAM and control of its clients’ funds, his next step mirrored 

the misappropriation from Hughes’ investors.  For example, he immediately received AAM 

client funds, $236,000, directly from the fake entity Galanis had set up, Wealth Assurance 

Private Client Corporation (“WAPCC”), ¶¶ 48, 70, to an account in Sugarman’s and his wife’s 

names.  ¶¶ 66, 70.  And more than $4 million was directed to support an initial public offering 

(“IPO”) of the stock of Code Rebel, a company in which Sugarman was invested, which allowed 

Sugarman and Galanis to control its float and artificially control and boost its price.  ¶¶ 102-09.  

Sugarman actively participated in that part of the scheme by urging friends and family to buy 

shares.  ¶ 102.  Sugarman and his wife’s own 490,000 shares rose significantly in price after the 

May 2015 IPO, and he contributed a portion of his shares to charity.  ¶¶ 104-107, 109.   

In total, of the $43 million in Bonds sold to Hughes and AAM clients, $40.1 million were 

meant to buy annuities, but instead went to WAPCC and were further misappropriated.  ¶ 67.  

IV. Sugarman Used Stolen Proceeds to Cover the Expenses of his Scheme. 

Sugarman used part of the fraudulent offering of Bonds and part of the Rosemont Bond 

to cover the expenses of the scheme.  First, Sugarman used $250,000 of a purported “loan” from 

VL Assurance—a loan obtained by misusing the Rosemont Bond—to fund an interest payment 

from WAPCC on the Bonds, after Galanis had been arrested.  ¶¶ 110-11.  Second, Sugarman and 

his wife sent $145,000 to Hughes and AAM at Morton’s request and to cover their expenses, and 

Sugarman approved an additional $655,000 to be sent from Bond proceeds.  ¶¶ 95-98. 
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V. Sugarman’s Use of the Bonds as Currency to Benefit Himself. 

Sugarman knew that the Bonds had no genuine value and treated them accordingly.  In 

October 2014, he asked an associate whether the Rosemont Bond would satisfy the statutory 

capital requirements if he contributed it to a Bermuda insurer he owned.  ¶ 71.  In December 

2014, Sugarman, now on the board of Valorlife, approved its investment of $3,195,000 in the 

Rosemont Bond to generate cash for Galanis’s luxury apartment purchase.  ¶¶ 82-83.  In May 

2015, Sugarman executed Galanis’s plan to complete the acquisition of Bermuda International 

Insurance Services Limited (“BISSL,” later named VL Assurance) by using the Rosemont Bond 

again.  ¶ 84.  Notwithstanding that Sugarman had already sold off more than $3 million of the 

Rosemont Bond to Valorlife, ¶ 82, he directed that the full $15 million face amount of the Bond 

be transferred to BISSL’s balance sheet and that a like amount of BISSL’s bonds be liquidated.  

¶¶ 85-86.  (Once in control of BISSL, Sugarman stole $8.5 million of its funds by directing it to 

make two sham loans to entities he controlled and then misappropriated the proceeds.  ¶¶ 87-88.)  

Finally, later in 2015, Sugarman sent $2.6 million of the Rosemont Bond to Burnham to shore up 

its net capital, pursuant to an undocumented purported loan from VL Assurance.  ¶ 91.   

STANDARD OF REVIEW 

To withstand a motion to dismiss under Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(6), a 

complaint need only plead “enough facts to state a claim to relief that is plausible on its face.”  

Bell Atl. Corp. v. Twombly, 550 U.S. 544, 570 (2007).  In deciding such a motion, a district court 

must accept as true all factual allegations in the complaint and draw all reasonable inferences in 

the plaintiff’s favor.  ATSI Commc’ns Inc. v. Shaar Fund, Ltd., 493 F.3d 87, 98 (2d Cir. 2007).     

To withstand a motion to dismiss under Rule 9(b), a complaint “must state with 

particularity the circumstances constituting fraud or mistake,” but “intent, knowledge, and other 

conditions of a person’s mind may be alleged generally.”  Fed. R. Civ. P. 9(b).  Rule 9(b) “serves 
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to provide a defendant with fair notice” of the substance of a plaintiff’s fraud claim.  ATSI, 493 

F.3d at 99; see also SEC v. Kelly, 663 F. Supp. 2d 276, 285 (S.D.N.Y. 2009) (Commission 

complaint met Rule 9(b)’s requirement “because it include[d] ‘the who, what, when, where and 

why’ of the SEC’s claims’”) (quoting Rombach v. Chang, 355 F.3d 164, 175 (2d Cir. 2004)).  

ARGUMENT 

I. The Complaint Adequately Alleges that Sugarman Committed Deceptive Acts as a 
Primary Violator.  

To state a claim for a violation of Exchange Act Section 10(b), Rules 10b-5(a) and (c), 

and Securities Act Sections 17(a)(1) and (3) based on deceptive conduct, the Commission must 

allege (1) that a defendant performed “an inherently deceptive act,” SEC v. Kelly, 817 F. Supp. 

2d 340, 344 (S.D.N.Y. 2011), abrogated on other grounds by Lorenzo v. SEC, 139 S. Ct. 1094 

(2019); (2) with scienter (or negligence for Section 17(a)(3), see Aaron v. SEC, 446 U.S. 680, 

697 (1980)); (3) in connection with the offer or sale (under Section 17(a)) or purchase or sale 

(under Section 10(b) and Rule 10b-5) of securities.  SEC v. Pentagon Capital Mgmt., PLC, 725 

F.3d 279, 285 (2d Cir. 2013); Gruber v. Gilbertson, No. 16 Civ. 9727 (WHP), 2018 WL 

1418188, at *14 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 20, 2018) (liability under these provisions requires defendant to 

participate in “illegitimate, sham or inherently deceptive transaction where [his] conduct or role 

had a purpose and effect of creating a false appearance’”) (quoting SEC v. Wey, 246 F. Supp. 3d 

894, 918 (S.D.N.Y. 2017)); SEC v. Lee, 720 F. Supp. 2d 305, 338 (S.D.N.Y. 2010)).3 

With respect to these primary violation claims, Sugarman offers three broad arguments in 

support of dismissal: that the Complaint (1) does not adequately plead any deceptive act by 

Sugarman; (2) does not adequately plead, with respect to the Hughes acquisition, that any such 

acts were “in connection with” the sale of securities; and (3) does not satisfy Rule 9(b) because it 

                                                 
3  These provisions also have an interstate commerce element, not at issue here. 
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does not distinguish between Sugarman and Galanis.  Mot. at 11-21.  None of these arguments 

has any merit, for the reasons set forth below. 

A. The Complaint Adequately Alleges That Sugarman Committed Deceptive 
Acts, By Masterminding and Implementing a Scheme to Defraud.  

Under Rule 10b-5(a)’s “expansive language,” “[a] ‘device,’ . . . is simply ‘[t]hat which is 

devised, or formed by design’; a ‘scheme’ is a ‘project,’ ‘plan[,] or program of something to be 

done’; and an ‘artifice’ is ‘an artful stratagem or trick.’”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1101 (citing 

Aaron, 446 U.S. at 696 n.13 (internal quotation marks omitted)).  As to Rule 10b-5(c), “‘act’ and 

‘practice’ . . . are similarly expansive” and reach “a doing” or a “thing done,” as well as an 

“action” or “deed.”  Id. at 1102 (quoting Webster’s International Dictionary 25, 1937 (2d ed. 

1934)).  The act need not itself be unlawful.  SEC v. Hui Feng, 935 F.3d 721, 737 (9th Cir. 

2019); accord Wey, 246 F. Supp. 3d at 918.  And it need not have been directed to the investing 

public by the defendant.  Lee, 720 F. Supp. 2d at 334 (defendant primarily liable if he “directly 

or indirectly employ[s] a manipulative or deceptive device (such as the creation or financing of a 

sham entity) intended to mislead investors, even if a material misstatement by another person 

creates the nexus between the scheme and the securities market”) (citing cases). 

1. The Complaint adequately alleges that Sugarman committed deceptive acts by 
masterminding the fraudulent scheme, together with Galanis.  

The Complaint adequately alleges that Sugarman (together with Galanis) designed and 

orchestrated a scheme to build a financial conglomerate with stolen funds, including by stealing 

the proceeds of the Bonds sold to Hughes’ and AAM’s clients, and those allegations suffice to 

allege Sugarman’s deceptive acts.  The Complaint alleges, for example, that Galanis sent 

Sugarman a spreadsheet detailing the proposed allocation of Bond proceeds to seek Sugarman’s 

approval—when Sugarman knew from his investment committee role that the proceeds were 

supposed to be used to purchase an annuity.  ¶¶ 8, 46-47.  It alleges that Sugarman came up with 
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a plan to persuade AAM’s fund manager to go through with the purchase of the Bonds for a 

client’s account.  ¶ 64.  It alleges that Sugarman sat on the Board of both Wealth-Assurance and 

Valorlife—the entities from which he and Galanis extracted the funds to acquire Hughes and 

AAM—and approved the acquisitions of the investment advisors knowing how their clients’ 

money would be misused.  ¶¶ 17, 36, 40-43, 55, 56, 58, 60, 62.  And it alleges that Sugarman 

directed others, including Galanis, to carry out specific, deceitful steps, like drafting investment 

memos or effecting fraudulent transfers of funds.  ¶¶ 8, 9, 24-30, 41, 49, 57, 67-68, 70, 74-77, 

82, 85, 87, 88, 91, 93, 97, 100, 105, 111.  Indeed, according to Dunkerley, their most frequently 

used nominee, Galanis and Sugarman were fifty-fifty partners in the scheme.  ¶¶ 5, 19.  

The most plausible inference from these allegations is that Sugarman was a mastermind 

of the fraudulent scheme—not a “mere ‘participa[nt].’”  Mot. at 10, 15.  Those allegations alone 

suffice to state a primary violation claim under Section 10(b), Rules 10b-5(a) and 5(c), and 

Sections 17(a)(1) and (3).  E.g., VanCook v. SEC, 653 F.3d 130, 139 (2d Cir. 2011) (“architect” 

of trading scheme violated scheme provisions); SEC v. CKB168 Holds., 210 F. Supp. 3d 421, 

446 (E.D.N.Y. 2016) (“scheme architect [is] liable [under Rule 10b-5(a) and 5(c)] as a matter of 

law”); In re Global Crossing Ltd. Sec. Litig., 322 F. Supp. 2d 319, 336 (S.D.N.Y. 2004) (entity’s 

“allegedly central role in [fraudulent] schemes” makes it liable under section 10(b)). 

Indeed, courts have held that even allegations that a defendant played a more minor role 

in a fraudulent scheme state a primary liability claim.  In Lee, for example, the Commission 

alleged that a trader was able to inflate the value of his portfolio by enlisting the defendant—a 

supposed independent valuator—to pass off to the trader’s employer false pricing information 

that the trader himself had supplied.  720 F. Supp. 2d at 334.  The Court held that this alleged 

role, limited to handling the “mechanics of the [price verification] process for a period of time” 
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and reviewing and approving his colleague’s work in transmitting the false information pled 

scheme liability with particularity.  Id. at 333-34; see also SEC v. Sayid, No. 17 Civ. 2630, 2018 

WL 357320, at *7 (S.D.N.Y. Jan. 10, 2018) (refusing to dismiss complaint against attorney who 

wrote false opinion letters delivered to another to further pump and dump scheme); Wey, 246 F. 

Supp. 3d at 918 (defendant’s movement of shares into nominee accounts to disguise source and 

deceive NASDAQ sufficed to state a claim for primary liability); SEC v. Collins & Aikman 

Corp., 524 F. Supp. 2d 477, 495 (S.D.N.Y. 2007) (“knowingly supervising employees who are 

carrying out a fraudulent scheme is itself the employment of a deceptive device”); SEC v. 

Curshen, 888 F. Supp. 2d 1299, 1308 (S.D. Fla. 2012) (allegations that defendant directed others 

to buy and sell shares and “orchestrated” media campaign suffice to plead primary liability). 

2. The Complaint further alleges that Sugarman committed other deceptive acts 
to implement the fraudulent scheme.  

 The Complaint not only pleads that Sugarman masterminded the fraudulent scheme 

(together with Galanis) but also pleads several specific instances of deceptive conduct by 

Sugarman within the “expansive” reach of Rules 10b-5(a) and (c).  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102.  

Sugarman’s contention that his alleged conduct was not “inherently deceptive” relies on a 

misstatement of the law.  Although Sugarman acknowledges that an alleged act need be only 

“inherently deceptive,” in reality he seeks to impose a heightened standard:  that the act at issue 

be “inherently illegal or illegitimate.”  Mot. at 15-16, 23 (citing United States v. Galanis, 366 F. 

Supp. 3d 477, 498 (S.D.N.Y. 2018)) (emphasis added); see also id. at 4, 14.  There is no such 

requirement.  See, e.g., Wey, 246 F. Supp. 3d at 918 (moving shares to another account to hide 

identities of shareholders was not “inherently unlawful, but it was deceptive”); Hui Feng, 935 

F.3d at 737 (holding that “deceptive conduct that is not ‘inherently unlawful’ may form the basis 

of a scheme defraud,” in that case establishment of overseas entities and arrangements of rebates 
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for clients).  Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) require only a deceptive “action” or “deed,” or something 

“which is devised, or formed by design.”  Lorenzo, 139 S. Ct. at 1102.  While the Commission 

must prove scienter, the plain text of Rules 10b-5(a) and (c) includes no requirement that a 

particular deceptive act be “illegal.”4  The Complaint sufficiently alleges deceptive acts.   

 First, the Complaint alleges that Sugarman himself misappropriated the Bond proceeds, 

both directly and indirectly.  ¶¶ 67-109.  Misappropriation is inherently deceptive and evidence 

of both a fraudulent scheme and of scienter.  SEC v. Wayland, No. 17 Civ. 2256, 2019 WL 

2620669, at *6-7 (C.D. Ca. Apr. 8, 2019) (granting summary judgment against defendant and 

citing United States v. Booth, 309 F.3d 566, 575 (9th Cir. 2002)); accord SEC v. Penn, 225 F. 

Supp. 3d 225, 236 (S.D.N.Y. 2016) (defendant who “diverted [money] . . . to other entities under 

his control,” “disguis[ed] the ultimate recipient of the funds through sham transactions,” and 

“‘stole’ over $1 million . . . through this scheme” committed “inherently deceptive act[s]”); SEC 

v. China Ne. Petroleum Holdings Ltd., 27 F. Supp. 3d 379, 392 (S.D.N.Y. 2014) (Commission 

“competently ple[ads] the existence” of a scheme where it pleads “defendants enriched 

themselves and their families at shareholders’ expense”).5 

                                                 
4  Sugarman’s citation to Wealth-Assurance board meeting minutes, Mot. at 16-17, is 
improper because the Complaint does not “‘rel[y] heavily upon its terms and effect,’” Chambers 
v. Time Warner, Inc., 282 F.3d 147, 153 (2d Cir. 2002), and “[l]imited quotation does not 
constitute incorporation by reference.”  Oklahoma Firefighters Pension and Ret. Sys. v. Lexmark 
Int’l, Inc., 367 F. Supp. 3d 16, 28 (S.D.N.Y. 2019) (citing Looney v. Black, 702 F.3d 701, 716 
n.2 (2d Cir. 2012)).  But, even if the Court were to consider the January 2014 minutes, they do 
not refute the Commission’s allegation that Sugarman concealed Galanis’s role in recommending 
the Hughes acquisition by presenting a ghostwritten memo to the Board in August 2014.  ¶ 41. 
 
5  Sugarman dismisses the critical allegations about his fraudulent purchase of Valorlife in 
part by pointing to allegations, in other parts of the Complaint and in SEC v. Archer, No. 16 Civ. 
3505 (S.D.N.Y.), that others also had control of the accounts he is alleged to have used for these 
deceptive transactions.  Mot. at 11, 19-20.  But there is nothing implausible or contradictory 
about more than one person having access to and control of a single account. 
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 Sugarman’s suggestion that the Complaint’s allegation that he reaped most of the profits 

from the scheme cannot be reconciled with the Commission’s complaint in Archer, in which it 

charged the other scheme participants with also profiting from the scheme (Mot. at 7), is 

unavailing.  Both complaints consistently allege that all the defendants profited from the scheme; 

Sugarman simply commandeered the greatest share.   

Second, Sugarman employed deceptive acts to procure the financing necessary to obtain 

control of Hughes and AAM and to gain control over their respective clients’ funds.  ¶¶ 6, 17.1, 

17.2, 21-27, 34, 41-44, 57-59, 73-79.  For example, to induce Wealth-Assurance to finance the 

Hughes acquisition, Sugarman submitted an investment memo to its board that reflected his and 

Galanis’s plan to acquire Hughes, but concealed that Galanis, a securities fraud recidivist, had 

authored it.  ¶¶ 41-42.  As a member of Wealth-Assurance’s Board, Sugarman voted for the 

transaction.  ¶ 43.  And to gain control of Valorlife—ultimately the source of funding for the 

acquisition of AAM—Sugarman and Galanis engaged in myriad transactions to funnel 

misappropriated Bond proceeds into accounts that would disguise the source of the funds, using 

two Sugarman-connected entities, Camden Escrow and WAH NV.  ¶¶ 74-77.  Sugarman then 

repeated many of the same steps he had taken to obtain control of AAM to obtain control of 

Hughes, including submitting a “Report” (secretly drafted by Galanis) to persuade the Board of 

Valorlife to fund the acquisition.  ¶ 58. 

 Third, Sugarman deceptively appointed nominees to carry out his bidding, often through 

entities with names similar to real entities set up to hide the money trail.  For example, Sugarman 

installed Dunkerley as the sole director and nominee president of WAH NV—the Nevada entity 

that shared a name but no actual relationship with the V.I. Wealth Assurance Holdings, Ltd., 

¶ 68—and used its bank account to funnel over $200,000 in Bond proceeds to himself, ¶ 70, and 
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$7,075,000 to complete his purchase of Valorlife.  ¶ 77.  These are all deceptive acts.  For 

example, in SEC v. Husain, the court declined to dismiss a complaint alleging that the defendant, 

much like Sugarman, recruited a puppet CEO for his fraudulent shell companies in order “to 

conceal his total control over the entity.”  No. 16 Civ. 3250, 2017 WL 810269, at *1, 9 (C.D. 

Cal. Mar. 1, 2017).  And in Penn, the Court held that routing money through different entities 

“served no legitimate purpose and was an obvious attempt to shield [defendant’s] theft” from 

detection.  225 F. Supp. 3d at 236; see also Gruber, 2018 WL 1418188, at *14 (denying motion 

to dismiss where defendants used nominees to hide share transfers and citing cases); Collins & 

Aikman, 524 F. Supp. 2d at 494-95 (refusing to dismiss complaint against defendant who 

supervised employees who negotiated sham transactions and against another who drafted side 

letters used to perpetrate the sham transactions).  

B. The Complaint Adequately Alleges that Sugarman Deceptively Acted  
“In Connection with” the Sale of Securities.  

Sugarman argues that his deceptive acquisition of Hughes must be disregarded because it 

“was not, itself, ‘in connection with’ the offer, purchase or sale of the tribal bonds.”  Mot. at 17-

18 (citation omitted).  But the “in connection with” requirement is not so restrictive: the 

deceptive acquisition of Hughes was a first step in causing Hughes’ advisory clients to undertake 

securities transactions, and that allegation satisfies the broad “in connection with” element.    

Courts interpret the “in connection with” requirement broadly.  See SEC v. Zandford, 535 

U.S. 813, 819–20 (2002).  Thus, “it is enough that the fraud alleged ‘coincide’ with a securities 

transaction—whether by the plaintiff or by someone else.”  Wey, 246 F. Supp. 3d at 914 (quoting 

Merrill Lynch, Pierce Fenner & Smith Inc. v. Dabit, 547 U.S. 71, 85 (2006)).  And the defendant 

need not have deceived an investor directly.  In Wey, for example, it was enough that the 

defendant deceived an entity to make securities available for others to purchase.  Id. at 913; 
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accord Sayid, 2018 WL 357320, at *7 (attorney’s false opinion letters delivered to transfer agent 

were “integral part of [other defendant’s] overarching pump and dump scheme”); see also Hui 

Feng, 935 F.3d at 736 (setting up false company to receive misappropriated payments from 

others, not themselves investors in securities, was violative conduct); SEC v. Spartan Secs. Grp., 

Ltd., No. 19 Civ. 448, 2019 WL 2372277, at *5 (M.D. Fla. June 5, 2019) (defendants’ false 

filings allowing companies to qualify for public quotation satisfied “in connection with” prong).   

 The very case Sugarman cites in support of his “in connection with” argument shows 

why the Complaint adequately pleads this element as to his Hughes acquisition.  In Leykin v. 

AT&T Corp. (Mot. at 17), the plaintiff alleged that defendants grossly mismanaged a company.  

Although the plaintiff alleged that the first step in the scheme to plunder the company was to buy 

into the company, there was no allegation that the purchase itself was deceptive or that any 

securities transactions occurred as a part of the “corporate abuse and diversion.”  423 F. Supp. 2d 

229, 241-42 (S.D.N.Y. 2006) (citation omitted).  The Court held that the claim for 

mismanagement therefore did not occur “in connection with” securities transactions.  Yet the 

Court carefully distinguished the case from a situation where either investors or defendants 

“actually traded in securities as part of the fraud,” including a situation where the defendants 

may have “purchased stock with company assets.”  Id. at 242 & n.10 (citations omitted).  

Sugarman’s deceptive Hughes acquisition is precisely the situation the Leykin Court 

distinguished: it was a first step in causing other securities transactions by Hughes’ clients. 

C. The Complaint’s Allegations Touching on Galanis Satisfy Rule 9(b).  

1. The Complaint properly pleads instances in which Sugarman and Galanis 
acted in concert  

Sugarman insists that the Complaint too frequently alleges that he acted together with 

Galanis, particularly with respect to the well-pled allegations that they fraudulently acquired 
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Valorlife.  Mot. at 1, 11, 18-19.  Yet there is no requirement that, when two individuals act 

together, a complaint must artificially break out their names into separate paragraphs and cite 

them separately for the same conduct.  Indeed, courts routinely hold as sufficient allegations that 

two or more individuals acted in tandem.  For example, in SEC v. Espuelas, which Sugarman 

cites (Mot. at 9), the Court found nothing deficient about “allegations concerning the . . . 

transactions [that led to fraudulent reporting] [that] almost never distinguish between” two 

defendants, including allegations that both defendants “negotiated and approved” the challenged 

transactions.  698 F. Supp. 2d 415, 434-35 (S.D.N.Y. 2010) (citation omitted).  To the contrary, 

the Court held that these allegations sufficed to plead both fraudulent conduct and scienter as to 

both defendants.  Id.; see also SEC v. Contrarian Press, LLC, No. 16 Civ. 6964, 2019 WL 

1172268, at *6 (S.D.N.Y. Mar. 13, 2019) (allegations that two defendants together “took steps to 

hide their involvement” in “an elaborate scheme to deceive investors,” including by directing 

associates to do their bidding, suffice to plead claims under Rule 10b-5(a) and (c)); Husain, 2017 

WL 810269, at *1 (refusing to dismiss complaint that alleged that defendants “‘act[ed] together’” 

in scheme); Curshen, 888 F. Supp. 2d 1307-08 (same). 

 The cases Sugarman cites do not reach a contrary conclusion.  Mot. at 10-11.  None 

stands for the novel proposition that a complaint cannot allege that more than one defendant 

carried out a particular act.  Double Alpha, Inc. v. Mako Partners, L.P. (Mot. at 10), for example, 

stands for the uncontroversial point that a complaint must specify some defendant as having 

committed a charged act and cannot plead that “each of the nine defendants” committed every 

act.  No. 99 Civ. 11541, 2000 WL 1036034, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. July 27, 2000).  Nor do any of 

Sugarman’s cited cases suggest that when a complaint pleads that two or more defendants are 
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partners in a scheme, as here, a plaintiff cannot use both their names together in the complaint.6  

In the cases Sugarman cites involving claims against two or more defendants, the courts 

dismissed the claims only because, unlike this Complaint, “the complaints lack any explanation 

of why these distinct [entities] should be regarded as one.”  Filler v. Hanvit Bank, No. 02 Civ. 

8251, 2003 WL 22110773, at *3 (S.D.N.Y. Sept. 12, 2003) (cited in Mot. at 12-13); see also In 

re Blech Secs. Litig., 961 F. Supp. 569, 581 (S.D.N.Y. 1997) (impermissible to plead generally 

against two sets of entities controlled by two separate individuals). 

2.  The Complaint does not improperly rely on innuendo as to Galanis.  

Sugarman also argues that “innuendo” about him and Galanis—such as allegations about 

the “two Jasons,” their “50/50 partners[hip],” and their pre-existing business relationship—do 

not satisfy Rule 9(b).  Mot. at 13-14.  But those allegations—including those relating to 

Sugarman’s and Galanis’s prior knowing theft from Wealth-Assurance in 2013, ¶¶ 21-31—

support the allegation that Sugarman and Galanis were business partners in subsequent 

endeavors, particularly those in which they employed similar tactics.  When taken as a whole 

with the Complaint’s other allegations that Sugarman masterminded the fraudulent scheme with 

Galanis and implemented the scheme with specific deceptive acts, the allegations more than 

suffice to satisfy Rule 9(b)’s particularity requirement.  In any event, Sugarman’s argument that 

                                                 
6  Many of the cases Sugarman cites, Mot. at 1, 11, 13, imply the contrary.  See, e.g., 
Collins & Aikman, 524 F. Supp. 2d at 486-87 (pleading a scheme allows plaintiff to allege that 
“[s]everal persons may act in concert to commit a violation of section 10(b) that might not be 
actionable were it not for their cooperation”); Three Crown Ltd. P’ship v. Caxton Corp., 817 F. 
Supp. 1033, 1040 (S.D.N.Y. 1993) (alleging “some or all defendants” committed particular acts 
insufficient); Sedona Corp. v. Ladenburg Thalman & Co., Inc., No. 03 Civ. 3120, 2005 WL 
1902780, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 9, 2005) (dismissing claims against defendants named in a 
count because the complaint did not otherwise list “any” specific misstatements against “any” of 
those defendants); Kolbeck v. LIT Am., Inc., 923 F. Supp. 557, 569-70 (S.D.N.Y. 1996) (because 
an “agency relationship [was] allegedly part of the fraud,” plaintiff’s failure to “plead the 
underlying fraud, but also the fraudulent agency” was fatal to his complaint). 
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these allegations are “irrelevant” or not “probative of guilt,” Mot. at 13-14, improperly asks the 

Court to weigh competing inferences and evidence.7 

II. The Complaint Adequately Alleges that Sugarman Aided and Abetted Fraud.  

The Complaint alleges that Sugarman also aided and abetted Galanis’s violations of 

Sections 17(a)(1) and (3), Section 10(b), and Rules 10b-5(a) and (c).  ¶¶ 113-22 (alleging claims 

under 15 U.S.C. §§ 77o(b), 78t(e)).  To adequately allege aiding and abetting, the Commission 

must plead: (1) “the existence of a securities law violation by the primary party;” (2) knowledge 

or reckless disregard “of this violation on the part of the aider and abettor;” and (3) “‘substantial’ 

assistance by the aider and abettor in the achievement of the primary violation.”  SEC v. Apuzzo, 

689 F.3d 204, 211 & n.6 (2d Cir. 2012) (noting that Congress amended Exchange Act Section 

20(e) in 2010 to include recklessness, not just knowledge, as a basis for aiding-and-abetting 

liability).  To adequately plead aiding and abetting, the Commission need not allege that a 

defendant knew about or participated in every aspect of the scheme.  Wey, 246 F. Supp. 3d at 931 

(Commission adequately pled knowledge of scheme because “read as a whole, the complaint 

alleges [defendant’s] knowledge of other parts of the scheme and his understanding of his role”).   

                                                 
7  Sugarman also appears to ask that the Court elevate the pleading requirements beyond the 
strictures of Rule 9(b) because the Commission conducted an investigation and sued others 
before filing this suit.  E.g., Mot. at 1, 3, 4, 9, 20, 22-24.  The cases Sugarman cites for this novel 
proposition do not support it.  Most deal with whether a request to amend a complaint under Fed. 
R. Civ. P. 15(a)—not at issue here—would be futile, given the pleading party’s prior access to 
discovery.  E.g., Espuelas, 698 F. Supp. 2d at 436 n.26; In re Refco Cap. Mkts., Ltd. Brokerage 
Customer Sec. Litig., 586 F. Supp. 2d 172, 196 (S.D.N.Y. 2008); U.S. ex rel. Crennen v. Dell 
Mktg. L.P., 711 F. Supp. 2d 157, 164 (D. Mass. 2010); In re Universal Foundry Co., 163 B.R. 
528, 541 (Bankr. E.D. Wis. 2003); see also United States v. Comstor Corp., 308 F. Supp. 3d 56, 
92 (D.D.C. 2018) (dismissing complaint based on failure to plead misstatements during the time 
period charged and noting length of investigation).  To the extent Billiard v. Rockwell Int’l Corp. 
(Mot. at 9) discusses a relationship between past discovery and Rule 9(b), the Second Circuit 
noted the plaintiff had had “full discovery of all documents” relating to the charged conduct.  
683 F.2d 51, 57 (2d Cir. 1983).  Here, the Archer action was partially stayed, and Sugarman 
declined to produce documents in that action and refused to testify in the investigation.   
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Sugarman does not dispute that the Complaint adequately pleads Galanis’s fraud and 

Sugarman’s substantial assistance but challenges only the allegations concerning his knowledge 

or recklessness.  Mot. at 22-23.  Because “[a] high degree of substantial assistance may lessen 

the SEC’s burden in proving scienter,” Apuzzo, 689 F. 3d at 215, the Commission has a lower 

burden to plead scienter.  Cf. Wey, 246 F. Supp. 3d at 928-29 (burden on scienter was “lessened 

significantly” where the complaint was “replete” with allegations of participation).   

A. The Complaint Sufficiently Pleads Sugarman’s Knowledge of Galanis’s 
Fraud. 

Sugarman contends that the Complaint merely alleges that he assisted Galanis without 

knowing that Galanis was engaged in a fraud.  Mot. at 22-25.  Yet the Complaint alleges facts 

sufficient for a jury to infer that Sugarman knowingly participated in the fraud.  

First, the Complaint alleges that Sugarman knew the Bonds were supposed to be invested 

in an annuity, as he had reviewed the issuance while on the placement agent’s Investment 

Committee, ¶ 46, and also knew exactly how the Bond proceeds were going to be 

misappropriated because Galanis told him.  Immediately after Hughes’ clients invested in the 

Bonds, Galanis sent Sugarman a spreadsheet laying out—in precise sums—a plan to steal all of 

the proceeds.  ¶ 47.  If Sugarman asks the Court to infer from his receipt of the spreadsheet that 

he thought that Galanis had just happened on nearly the exact amount raised in the Bond 

offering, or had some legitimate claim to the proceeds, and was going to use a portion of it to pay 

Sugarman and his creditors, he offers no reason why that inference would be plausible.   

Second, the Complaint details Sugarman’s knowledge of the role the Hughes acquisition 

would play in that misappropriation.  Galanis told him that acquiring Hughes would give them 

discretion over $900 million, and that their confederate would be installed as Hughes’ CIO after 

the acquisition, ensuring that the discretion would be used to their benefit.  ¶ 40.   
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Third, prior to the purchase of AAM, Sugarman and Galanis exchanged emails reflecting 

their shared knowledge of what the acquisition of AAM was really meant to accomplish:  

misappropriation of still more millions of dollars in Bond proceeds.  ¶¶ 55-56 (reflecting that “all 

[they] care[d]” about in connection with the purchase was that AAM’s Chief Strategist “likes 

firewater,” referring to the Tribal Bonds, and would do his “damndest [sic] to get [the Bonds] 

placed within a day after the acquisition”).  And Sugarman stepped in to entice AAM’s fund 

manager to go along with the investment when he learned of his possible resistance.  ¶ 64. 

Fourth, Sugarman knew that the Bonds had no genuine value—knowledge inconsistent 

with an honest belief that the issuances and purchases by Hughes and AAM clients were 

legitimate.  Sugarman ignored Archer’s supposed ownership of the Rosemont Bond when 

Sugarman asked an associate whether he could use it as statutory capital for an insurance 

company in which he had an interest.  ¶ 71.  Next, he ignored Archer’s ownership again when he 

recommended and then approved a sale of a portion of the Bond to Valorlife in December 2014, 

prior to the sale of a new tranche of Bonds to AAM’s client.  ¶¶ 81-82.  Later, when the 

Rosemont Bond was transferred to VL Assurance in May 2015, so that Sugarman and Galanis 

could liquidate VL Assurance’s liquid holdings for cash, it was the entire Bond—not just the 

portion that remained after the earlier sale of one-third of it to Valorlife.  ¶¶ 84-86.  And if 

Sugarman truly believed that the Bond were legitimate, and worth $16 million, there would have 

been no reason to substitute any portion of it for the liquid bonds in VL Assurance’s portfolio;  

Sugarman could have just sold the Bond for cash.  Finally, he transferred a portion of the 

Rosemont Bond to Burnham Securities to prop up Burnham’s net capital, with no documentation 

of any supposed loan to Burnham from VL Assurance.  ¶ 91. 
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Fifth, Sugarman confirmed his understanding of the scheme by trying to cover it up.  

When Sugarman directed more than $200,000 to WAPCC—an entity that had paid him hundreds 

of thousands of dollars but which he knew (from his ownership of WAH and role on Wealth-

Assurance’s and VGL’s boards) had no connection to his similarly-named Wealth-Assurance—it 

was after Galanis had been arrested, and after his other associates asked if they needed to discuss 

the Bonds.  ¶¶ 110-12.  The plausible inference from these facts is that Sugarman knew (or was 

reckless in not knowing) that he was paying interest on the Bonds, and that he did so because he 

knew they would be unmasked as a sham if the interest payment was not made.8   Sugarman may 

someday argue to a jury that he had honorable reasons to make a payment through a company 

which had no connection to him after his business partner had been arrested, but the inference 

that he did it to cover his tracks is at least as plausible. 

Far from being “conclusory,” Mot. at 24, these allegations are the kind that courts 

routinely find suffice to adequately plead aiding and abetting liability.  E.g., Contrarian Press, 

2019 WL 1172268, at *9 (allegations that defendant took steps to cover other defendants’ fraud 

and used documents prepared by those defendants while concealing their involvement all “give 

rise to the reasonable inference that [defendant] was aware” of the others’ violations); Wey, 246 

F. Supp. 3d at 929 (defendant’s “extensive work . . . always at [the principal fraudster’s] 

direction . . . sufficient to raise a strong inference that he knew” of underlying violations). 

The cases on which Sugarman relies do not support the argument that the Complaint’s 

allegations of knowing participation are insufficient.  In SEC v. Cohmad Sec. Corp., the Court 

                                                 
8  Should the Court consider the documents proffered by Sugarman, it should also consider 
the one appended as Exhibit A to the Declaration of Jorge G. Tenreiro.  In that email to 
Sugarman, a successor to the one cited in the Complaint, the author makes specific reference to a 
payment due on the Bonds.   
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dismissed the complaint where the only allegations that defendants knew that Madoff was 

defrauding victims were that he had a business relationship with defendants and asked them to 

keep secret how his businesses were marketed.  No. 09 Civ. 5680, 2010 WL 363844, at *3-4 

(S.D.N.Y. Feb. 2, 2010).  Cohmad did not involve allegations, as the Complaint does, of the 

primary violator explaining the fraud to the aider and abettor.  Similarly, Collins & Aikman, 

where the Court denied motions to dismiss, discusses allegations sufficient to show a defendant’s 

knowledge of the falsity of his own statements for purposes of primary liability.  524 F. Supp. 2d 

at 485.  The decision does not stand (indeed, no decision Sugarman identifies stands) for the 

proposition for which Sugarman cites it:  that an aider and abettor must know of every facet of 

the primary violator’s fraud, or that a complaint must list the reports that clued in the aider and 

abettor to the underlying scheme (which this Complaint does in any case).  Mot. at 25. 

 B. Sugarman’s Reliance on United States v. Galanis Is Unavailing. 

Sugarman insists that the Complaint should be dismissed because a separate co-

conspirator, Archer, was granted a new trial in the parallel criminal action on the ground that 

there was no evidence that Archer knew Galanis was committing fraud.  See Mot. at 23 (citing 

Galanis, 366 F. Supp. 3d at 498).  

Setting aside the impropriety of asking the Court to import post-trial evidence from a case 

against a co-conspirator to weigh competing inferences on a motion to dismiss this action against 

Sugarman, the argument suffers from an obvious, fundamental defect: Sugarman is not Archer.  

Galanis rested on a myriad of distinguishing facts found by Judge Abrams at the conclusion of 

that trial, including that (1) Galanis did not keep Archer abreast of all his actions, 366 F. Supp. 

3d at 492; (2) Archer did not “profit directly from the misappropriation of the bond proceeds,” 

id.; (3) Archer did not know that the money he obtained constituted proceeds, id. at 494-95; and 
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(4) Galanis told Archer that the Bond proceeds were to be used to buy an annuity.  Id. at 497.9  

The Complaint against Sugarman tells a far different story as to Sugarman’s understanding of the 

fraud he aided and abetted, as set forth in Part II.A above.   

Fundamentally, Judge Abrams concluded that Archer did not play any role in connection 

with the acquisitions of Hughes or AAM, a distinction she found critical in a footnote directly 

implicating Sugarman.  Compare Galanis, 366 F. Supp. 3d at 498 n. 20 (noting that “[t]he one 

caveat” to her statement that there was nothing illegitimate about the acquisitions “is that the 

acquisition of Hughes was financed through the so-called Ballybunion fraud”) with ¶¶ 21-30.  

Sugarman’s repeated reliance on the decision in Galanis ignores other, damning Complaint 

allegations that Sugarman acted to conceal the scheme.  See generally supra at II.A; ¶¶ 74-77 

(funneling proceeds to entities used to buy Valorlife); ¶¶ 96-99 (paying off Morton); ¶ 111 

($250,000 contribution to Bond interest payment).  Taking steps with the purpose of concealing a 

fraud is, by definition, knowingly assisting that fraud.  E.g., Silvercreek Mgmt., Inc. v. Citigroup, 

Inc., 248 F. Supp. 3d 428, 443 (S.D.N.Y. 2017). 

In sum, the only plausible inference from the Complaint’s allegations is that Sugarman 

knew he was providing substantial assistance to Galanis’s fraudulent scheme.  Considered in 

totality, the allegations cannot be viewed “as ‘business as usual,’ but rather as an effort to 

purposely assist the fraud and help make it succeed.”  Apuzzo, 689 F.3d at 215. 

 

 

 

                                                 
9  The Commission does not concede that the same evidentiary conclusions would follow in 
its civil proceeding against Archer or others.  See also United States v. Galanis, No. 18-3727 (2d 
Cir. Dec. 13, 2018) (filing appeal of Judge Abrams’ decision in Galanis).   
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For the foregoing reasons, Defendant's Motion to Dismiss should be denied.

Dated: New York, New York
December 20, 2019

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE
COMMISSION

By: ~~1~'

Nancy A. Brown
Jorge G. Tenreiro
Tejal Shah

New York Regional Office
200 Vesey Street, Suite 400
New York, New York 10281-1022
(212) 336-9145 (Tenreiro)

Attorneys for Plaintiff

Fes.".
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